STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Sep 21 2022
SC Court of Appeals

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

FRANCISCO R. RODRIGUEZ,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000882

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner suffered no prejudice from plea counsel's failure to advise that the Alford plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States?

STATEMENT

In August of 2015, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Francisco R. Rodriguez, for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree, indictments #2015-GS-42-3396, 3397. On April 12, 2016, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and entered a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), to criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree. The State dismissed the indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. An interpreter translated the proceedings. Joseph R. Baldwin represented Petitioner at the plea. Lindsey H. Overby represented the State. Judge Kelly sentenced Petitioner to fifteen (15) years in prison. (App. pp. 22-24). As a result of the plea, Petitioner will be required to register as a sex offender. Petitioner did not appeal the sentence or conviction.

On November 21, 2016, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. (App. pp. 25-33). The State filed a return on July 3, 2017. (App. pp. 34-40). On October 10, 2019, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper. Lydia Angelica Hernandez represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Jacob A. Isenberg represented the State. In a written order signed May 11, 2020, Judge Cooper denied relief and dismissed the application. (App. pp. 136-159). On June 16, 2020, a timely notice of intent to appeal was served. On December 3, 2020, the petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court. In an order dated May 12, 2021, the South Carolina Supreme Court, pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR, transferred the case to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On August 22, 2022, the Court of Appeals granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in finding that Petitioner suffered no prejudice from plea counsel's failure to advise that the Alford plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States.

The PCR judge correctly found that trial counsel's failure to explicitly advise Petitioner that he would be deported if he entered the Alford plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree constituted deficient performance pursuant to Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). The PCR judge, however, failed in refusing to find prejudice. Given Petitioner's familial connections to the United States, having two children who are United States citizen, there is a reasonable probability that absent counsel's error, Petitioner would have risked trial instead of entering the plea and facing certain deportation.

Alford Plea

Petitioner is from Veracruz, Mexico and speaks only Spanish. (App. p. 49, lines 5-8). Petitioner entered a plea pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), to criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree. The minor who made the allegation was a girl who Petitioner's common law wife volunteered to watch so that the girl would not be left home alone. (App. p. 57, lines 17-19). While an interpreter was present to translate the proceedings of the plea, plea counsel did not use an interpreter when consulting with Petitioner. (App. p. 111, line 25 – p. 112, lines 1-25). Plea counsel testified that he communicated with Petitioner in Spanish because plea counsel's wife was from Mexico and he learned Spanish from her. (App. p. 112, lines 10-13). Petitioner testified that plea counsel was not fluent in Spanish and Petitioner did not understand everything that plea counsel said. (App. p. 50, lines 9-17). The plea transcript reflects that Petitioner had to stop and consult with his attorney numerous times during the plea. During the PCR hearing plea counsel admitted that Petitioner seemed confused during the plea.

(App. p. 103, lines 21-24). At the end of the plea hearing the prosecutor told the judge, “I would also let Your Honor know I did contact ICE regarding this defendant. And they did not tell me that he has, you know, regarding his immigration status. I’m not sure. I just know what they tell me is that deportation is not a real consequence unless this sentence is ninety days or more. Just that information I would just like to pass along to Your Honor.” (App. p. 19, line 21 – p. 20, lines 1-2). The plea judge did not question Petitioner about any possible immigration consequences that would result from the plea.

Post-Conviction Relief

In the application for post-conviction relief [PCR] Petitioner alleged, “That the Applicant did not have an interpreter to explain the nature of the charge against him, his constitutional right to a jury trial, a defense, or of the exposure of time and consequences of the plea. If the Applicant had been advised in a manner that he could understand, he would have insisted on going to trial.” (App. p. 26).

During the PCR hearing Petitioner testified, in regard to plea counsel’s advice on immigration consequences, that “He, just told me that it would be possible for me to be deported.” (App. p. 70, line 21 – p. 71, lines 1-4). Petitioner agreed on cross-examination that plea counsel told him there was a possibility that he would be deported. (App. p. 85, lines 7-11). Petitioner agreed that plea counsel did not explain that a sexual crime against a child is considered a crime of moral turpitude. (App. p. 71, lines 10-16). Petitioner agreed that plea counsel did not advise him that by pleading to the charge of criminal sexual conduct with a minor third-degree Petitioner would be banned completely from ever reporting legal status in the United States. (App. p. 71, lines 17-20). Plea counsel knew that Petitioner had children and the children were United States citizens. (App. p. 71, lines 21-24). Petitioner agreed that plea

counsel did not explain that if Petitioner was deported he would never be able to return to the United States to be with and raise his children. (App. p. 71, line 25 – p. 72, lines 1-4). Petitioner testified that his plea was not freely and intelligently made and but for counsel's advice to continue with the plea, Petitioner would have gone to trial instead. (App. p. 75, line 13 – p. 76, lines 1-8).

When asked at the PCR hearing if he discussed deportation consequences with Petitioner, plea counsel testified, "I, I told – well, I told him that immigration was probably gonna come and get him when his sentence was over no matter when it ended. You know, whether it was, you know, at – and that they would use this conviction against him as a reason to deport him." (App. p. 102, lines 8-14). When asked on cross-examination about whether he explained immigration consequences that would result from the plea, plea counsel testified, "Yes, I'm sure I did. I told him it would be used against him in a deportation proceeding if there was one." (App. p. 126, lines 2-7). Plea counsel admitted that the plea would make Petitioner inadmissible. (App. p. 126, lines 8-11). When asked if he explained that as a result of the plea Petitioner would never be able to return to the United States to raise his children, plea counsel testified:

Well, if I – I think I had asked him if there were any – if there was anything about the children that was exceptional or unusual in any regard. And I don't think there was, but I don't know if I ever told him he'd never be able to come to the United States. I may not have gone over that with him, but he was very much aware that the immigration court would – you know, this would be used against him and he would probably be deported.

(App. p. 126, line 18 – p. 127, line 1). In summation PCR counsel stated that if Petitioner had understood everything, he would not have entered the plea. (App. p. 130, lines 1-7).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

Here, because Counsel failed to explicitly state Applicant would be deported if he pled, Counsel acted deficiently. However, there is no indication Applicant was prejudiced by this deficiency. Applicant made clear the determinative factor in

taking the plea was the shortened sentence, not any potential deportation consequences. (PCR Tr. 62). Applicant never testified that if Counsel told him deportation was mandatory in his case he would have proceeded to trial. Applicant never stated he would not have plead but for this deficiency. Thus, Applicant has not met his burden of proof in showing he was prejudiced by any lack of information given to him regarding immigration consequences. *See Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 362, 745 S.E.2d 97, 103 (2013) (stating that to show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for Counsel's error Applicant would have proceeded to trial).

Thus, this Court finds, based on the entirety of Counsel's testimony, Applicant still would have taken the plea if Counsel provided a more concrete answer regarding immigration consequences of the plea. Thus, Applicant has not met his burden of proof as to prejudice, and consequently, is not entitled to relief.

(App. pp. 155-156). The PCR judge correctly found that plea counsel was ineffective for failing to advise Petitioner that the Alford plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States. The PCR judge, however, erred in refusing to find prejudice.

Deficient Performance

Pursuant to Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010), the PCR judge correctly found that plea counsel was deficient in failing to explicitly advise Petitioner that he would be deported if he entered the Alford plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree. In the 2018 case of Taylor v. State, 422 S.C. 222, 225, 810 S.E.2d 862, 863 (2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

“[A]dvice regarding deportation is not categorically removed from the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). If the deportation consequences of a particular plea are unclear or uncertain, “a criminal defense attorney need do no more than advise a non-citizen client that pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences.” *Id.* at 369, 130 S.Ct. 1473. However, where the terms of the relevant immigration statute are “succinct, clear, and explicit” in defining the removal consequence, counsel has an “equally clear” duty to give correct advice. *Id.* at 368–69, 130 S.Ct. 1473.

An applicable federal code section, 8 U.S.C.A. § 1227 (a)(2)(A)(i,ii), provides that, “Any alien who— is convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude committed within five years (or 10 years in the case of an alien provided lawful permanent resident status under section 1255(j) of this title) after the date of admission, and is convicted of a crime for which a sentence of one year or longer may be imposed, is deportable.” Another part of the federal code provides that, “Any alien who at any time after admission is convicted of a crime of domestic violence, a crime of stalking, or a crime of child abuse, child neglect, or child abandonment is deportable.” 8 U.S.C.A. § 1227 (a)(2)(E)(i). The terms of the removal statute are succinct, clear, and explicit. Counsel had a duty to give correct advice. As the Court wrote in Taylor, “Pursuant to Padilla, counsel must do more than ‘discuss immigration’ or advise Petitioner he *might* face adverse immigration consequences.” 422 S.C. at 227, 810 S.E.2d at 864. Plea counsel’s advice that Petitioner *might* be deported was deficient. The PCR judge correctly found deficient performance.

The prosecutor’s brief reference to deportation at the end of the plea does not cure trial counsel’s failure to advise that the plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry. In Taylor v. State, 422 S.C. 222, 229, 810 S.E.2d 862, 865 (2018), the Court wrote:

We turn now to the State’s (and the PCR court’s) reliance on the plea colloquy to remedy the deficiency. During the plea hearing, before accepting Petitioner’s guilty plea, the plea court stated that a guilty plea could “subject [Petitioner] to being removed from this country” and “could affect [Petitioner’s] right to remain here.” Here, the colloquy was generic in that Petitioner was merely informed that his plea *could affect* his immigration status. In light of Padilla and its progeny, we are constrained to conclude that the plea court’s general warning failed to cure counsel’s deficient representation. We acknowledge that in many circumstances a plea court’s standard colloquy will cover a multitude of deficiencies by counsel. Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 600, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999) (“A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court

and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.' ") (quoting State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171 (1993)). But under Padilla, special requirements have been added to counsel in the plea bargaining process when a non-citizen is involved. The meaning of Padilla would be negated if we allowed general comments from the plea court to satisfy the specific requirements imposed on counsel under the Sixth Amendment. The generic statement by the plea court was no better than counsel's general deportation advice, especially where Petitioner had made it crystal clear that his decision to plead guilty turned on the prospects of deportation.

In Petitioner's case the plea judge did not make any statements about Petitioner's immigration status. The prosecutor's comment to the judge about contacting ICE does not cure the deficiency. Plea counsel was deficient.

Prejudice

The PCR judge erred in finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to demonstrate prejudice. The judge's finding that the determinative factor in Petitioner's decision to enter an Alford plea was the shortened sentence is not supported by the record. There is a reasonable probability that if Petitioner had been advised that the Alford plea would result in mandatory deportation and permanent ban on reentry, Petitioner would have rejected the plea and insisted on going to trial. The order of dismissal cites to page 62 of the PCR transcript where plea counsel testified that Petitioner did not want a trial because he did not want to risk the possibility of a twenty-five (25) year minimum sentence. (App. p. 102, lines 1-7). This decision was based, however, on the erroneous advice that deportation was merely a possibility. Petitioner testified that the plea was not made freely and intelligently and PCR counsel argued that if Petitioner had been made aware of all of the consequences of the plea, he would have insisted on going to trial. The Taylor case from 2013 and cited in the order of dismissal involved the failure to advise about the recidivist consequences of a plea, not immigration/deportation and permanent ban consequences.

Given Petitioner's familial connections to the United States, having two children who are United States citizen, there is a reasonable probability that absent counsel's error, Petitioner would have risked trial instead of entering the plea and facing certain deportation. In United States v. Swaby, 855 F.3d 233, 243 (4th Cir. 2017), the Court addressing prejudice in the context of Padilla deficient performance wrote:

Swaby alternatively can demonstrate prejudice by showing a reasonable likelihood that, absent his counsel's error, he would have gone to trial instead. To determine Swaby's reasonable likelihood of going to trial, we must look to the strength of the state's case "inasmuch as a reasonable defendant would surely take it into account." Ostrander v. Green, 46 F.3d 347, 356 (4th Cir. 1995), *overruled on other grounds by* O'Dell v. Netherland, 95 F.3d 1214 (4th Cir. 1996). But likelihood of acquittal at trial is not the only factor a defendant considers, especially when the offered plea carries considerable collateral consequences. For example, this Court has found prejudice when the defendant "had significant familial ties to the United States and thus would reasonably risk going to trial instead of pleading guilty and facing certain deportation." Akinsade, 686 F.3d at 255.

In the present case, as in Swaby, it is not only reasonable, it is unsurprising that if Petitioner had known the true consequences of the plea, he would have taken any chance to avoid deportation by going to trial rather than accepting mandatory deportation and permanent ban on reentry making it impossible to visit his children or help to raise them in the United States.

The Court in Klaiber v. United States, 471 F. Supp. 3d 696, 711 (D. Md. 2020), wrote:

The Supreme Court has now repeatedly held that non-citizen defendants must be apprised of the immigration consequences of their conviction, given that for many, deportation is more severe a penalty than imprisonment. See Padilla, 559 U.S. at 365, 130 S.Ct. 1473; Lee, 137 S. Ct. at 1967. As the Court explained in Lee, even when the chances of success at trial are slim, the failure to warn a defendant of these consequences can be prejudicial. Id. at 1966–67. This is because for someone facing deportation, "the smallest chance of success at trial may look attractive." Id. at 1966.

The failure to warn Petitioner of the consequences of the plea in the present case was prejudicial.

As noted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in the 2018 Taylor case, in Lee v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 198 L. Ed. 2d 476 (2017), the United States Supreme Court adopted the Hill v. Lockhart analysis for prejudice resulting from plea counsel's failure to properly advise about immigration consequences resulting from a guilty plea. In Lee the Court found that, although Lee had no viable defense at trial, there was a reasonable probability that if Lee had been advised that his guilty plea would result in mandatory deportation, he would have rejected the plea and insisted on going to trial.

In contrast to the case against Lee, the State's case against Petitioner was based solely on the testimony of the minor. During the Alford plea counsel told the judge that there was no physical evidence against Petitioner and the State's evidence was based solely on the word of the minor. (App. p. 14, line 12 – p. 15, lines 1-2). Plea counsel also told the judge, "I would point out to the Court that I believe that the parents of the victim might have some type of ulterior motive to make allegations in that they're not legally in the country and they might be looking for a new visa." (App. p. 15, lines 3-6).

During the PCR hearing plea counsel testified, "And I remember telling him that in my opinion he could win the case, but there was more than – you know, that there was sufficient evidence that he could -- that there was probably even better than a 50 percent chance that he, that he would lose the case, and if he did, the lewd act on a child wouldn't be the one he went to trial on. It would be the criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, which would carry a minimum of 25 years." (App. p. 118, lines 11-19). The fact that plea counsel believed that there was a possibility that the jury would find Petitioner not guilty combined with the language barrier and the fact that Petitioner was confused during the plea hearing as well as the fact that Petitioner did not admit guilt and instead entered a plea pursuant to Alford all support that there

is a reasonable probability that if Petitioner had been advised that the plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry, Petitioner would have rejected the plea and insisted on trial. This is especially true in light of the fact that Petitioner's children are United States citizens and he will not be able to visit them or help to raise them in the United States.

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