**RECEIVED**

**Dec 21 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Post-Conviction Relief Judge  
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Plea Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000882

---

FRANCISCO R. RODRIGUEZ,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SAMANTHA J. WEIDAUER  
S.C. Bar No. 104833  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish prejudice, where plea counsel informed him what an *Alford* plea is, advised him there would be deportation consequences regardless of whether he pled guilty or was found guilty at trial, and where Petitioner’s determinative factor for pleading was because he did not want to risk a possible conviction on the first-degree criminal sexual conduct charge and the twenty-five year maximum sentence that could result therefrom.**

In Petitioner’s Brief, he asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in refusing to find prejudice where counsel did not explicitly advise Petitioner that an *Alford* plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States. Petitioner argues he did not have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea and given Petitioner’s “familial connections,” there is a “reasonable probability that absent counsel’s error, Petitioner would have risked trial instead of entering the plea and facing certain deportation.” (Brief of Petitioner, 4). Petitioner further asserts, though an interpreter was present to translate the proceedings of the plea, no interpreter was present when Petitioner consulted counsel alone regarding his case. Petitioner states counsel did not advise him, by pleading, he would be banned completely from ever reporting legal status in the United States. Critically, during Petitioner’s evidentiary hearing, counsel made clear Petitioner’s determinative factor in taking the plea was the shortened sentence, not any deportation consequences. (App. 102).

Therefore, while the post-conviction relief court found counsel was deficient for failing to advise Petitioner that the *Alford* plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States, they did not err in refusing to find prejudice, where the immigration consequences of the *Alford* plea were of no consideration to Petitioner, rather the potential time incarcerated was the determinative factor. Consequently, this Court should affirm the post-conviction relief court’s findings in full.

### *Standard and Burden of Proof*

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

First, Petitioner must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. *Id.*; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* With respect to prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine

confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. It is not enough “to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” *Id.* at 693. Counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.” *Id.* at 687; *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86 (2011).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel also applies to a defendant entering a guilty plea, *Hill v. Lockhart* extended the two-part Strickland test to challenge guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel. 474 U.S. 52 (1985); see *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010) (recognizing the guilty plea process is a “critical phase of litigation” for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel).

When reviewing a guilty plea, the analysis of counsel’s performance under the first prong of Strickland remains unchanged—the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below the objective standard of reasonableness demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 58–59. The second, or “prejudice” prong, however, “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” *Id.* at 58–59. Specifically, when an applicant claims counsel’s deficient performance caused him to accept a plea, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [plea] counsel’s [alleged] errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” *Id.*

at 59. This inquiry “focuses on a defendant’s decisionmaking” and does not turn on the outcome of a defendant’s actual criminal proceeding or potential outcome had a defendant chosen to proceed to trial. *Lee v. United States*, 198 L. Ed. 2d 476, 137 S. Ct. 1958 (2017). However, an applicant must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 372.

Surmounting *Strickland’s* high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” *Lee*, 137 S. Ct. at 1967 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest in the finality of guilty pleas.’”). In determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. *Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984).

***Petitioner Failed to Prove He Was Prejudiced and Failed to Prove  
But For Counsel’s Deficiency He Would Have Proceeded to Trial***

Here, Petitioner was not prejudiced by any deficiency of counsel, despite Petitioner, arguing he would have proceeded to trial had he been made aware of all the consequences of the plea. Petitioner asserts that while the post-conviction relief court properly found counsel was deficient for failing to explicitly state Petitioner would be deported if he pleaded guilty, the post-conviction relief court improperly found the claim failed because Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel’s deficiency.

In support of Petitioner’s assertion counsel failed to advise him that the *Alford* plea would result in mandatory deportation and a permanent ban on reentry into the United States, Petitioner

testified counsel only told him there was a possibility he would be deported. (App. 85). Petitioner argues, because of this erroneous advice, and counsel's failure to fully advise Petitioner of the immigration consequences of a plea, Petitioner's plea was not made freely and intelligently, and he is entitled to a new trial.

After hearing Petitioner's testimony at the evidentiary hearing, in conjunction with counsel's testimony and a thorough review of the record, the post-conviction relief court found counsel's performance deficient, but rejected Petitioner's claims of prejudice. Specifically, the post-conviction relief court found Petitioner did not suffer prejudice, as he would have taken the plea, regardless of whether counsel provided a more concrete answer regarding immigration consequences of the plea.

At Petitioner's evidentiary hearing, counsel testified he discussed with Petitioner the trial strategy he would have used if Applicant did not accept the plea and testified that he explained to Petitioner what an *Alford* plea was to Petitioner a day or two before the plea hearing. (App. 99-100). During this discussion, according to counsel, Petitioner was engaged and discussed the sentences others with similar offenses had received. (App. 100-101). When asked if he wanted to proceed to trial, Petitioner, without prompting or conferring with counsel, said, "No. I want an *Alford*." (App. 7). Moreover, when asked if he wanted to enter an *Alford* plea, Petitioner said he did. (App. 8). When asked if he knew the plea would be treated like a guilty plea, Petitioner said he did. (App. 8). When the Judge asked if he was receiving a beneficial result by accepting the *Alford* plea, he conceded he was without conferring with counsel. (App. 8). He said no one forced him to plead, no one talked him into pleading, and that he had plenty of time to talk with his lawyer. (App. 9). Though he initially voiced dissatisfaction with counsel not investigating witnesses, after

conferring with counsel, he stated that he thought counsel did everything he could for him, and there was nothing else he thought that counsel should have done but failed to. (App. 10).

When the solicitor read the facts, Petitioner readily conceded that the solicitor could present those facts to a jury and the jury, based upon those facts, would likely convict him. (App. 13). Petitioner also spoke to the judge himself at the plea hearing and, after having the entire hearing interpreted for him, never told the judge he did not want to plead. (App. 8-10, 13-14).

Counsel additionally testified Petitioner told him he did not want to proceed to trial because he did not want to risk the possibility of a twenty-five-year sentence. (App. 102). At Petitioner's evidentiary hearing, counsel testified he and Petitioner discussed which parts of the discovery weakened their case and that Petitioner was engaged and cooperative throughout the meetings when they reviewed discovery. (App. 94-95). Counsel stated he told Applicant after service of the sentence, immigration officials would probably use the conviction to deport him from the country, regardless of whether he pled guilty or proceeded to trial. (App. 102). Counsel stated he told Applicant that his conviction would be used against him as a reason to deport him and he believed Applicant wanted to plead pursuant to *Alford* because Applicant was concerned about facing twenty-five years' imprisonment if found guilty at trial. (App.102, 105-106). Further, counsel testified Applicant never indicated he wanted a trial while talking with counsel at the hearing. (App. 105). Counsel testified he thought Applicant understood him regarding his analysis of the case and the plea agreement, including the strengths and weaknesses of the case and what an *Alford* plea is. (App. 112-114).

Based on the entirety of counsel’s testimony deemed credible<sup>2</sup> by the post-conviction relief court, the post-conviction relief court found Applicant was aware of the details of the plea, including the rights he was giving up, the nature of the charge, the right to raise defenses, and what an *Alford* plea is. Additionally, the post-conviction relief court found Petitioner did not want to risk a possible conviction on the first-degree criminal sexual conduct charge and the twenty-five year maximum sentence that could result therefrom. (App. 102).

Most importantly, Petitioner never testified that if counsel told him deportation was mandatory in his case he would have proceeded to trial. Petitioner never stated he would not have pled but for this deficiency. Thus, Petitioner has not met his burden of proof in showing he was prejudiced by any lack of information given to him regarding immigration consequences. See *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 362, 745 S.E.2d 97, 103 (2013) (stating that to show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for counsel’s error Applicant would have proceeded to trial).

While in *Padilla v. Kentucky*, the United States Supreme Court held that effective assistance of counsel inherently requires communicating the risk of deportation upon conviction to a non-citizen defendant. 559 U.S. 356, 367 (2010). Ineffective assistance of counsel is easily found if counsel falsely assures the [Petitioner] he will not be deported by taking a plea. *Id.* at 368; *Lee v. U.S.*, 137 S.Ct. 1958, 1964 (2017). In *Padilla*, the Supreme Court also held that there will

---

<sup>2</sup> On appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved. *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (Citing *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)); *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 247, 814 S.E.2d 487, 493 (2018) (“[W]e defer to the PCR court’s credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court...”); *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012) (“The PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility are given great deference by this Court.”); *Foye v. State*, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E. 265, 267 (1999) (“Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to the judge’s findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”).

“undoubtedly be numerous situations in which the deportation consequences of a plea are unclear.” *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 367. When this is the case, the attorney only needs to “advise a noncitizen client that pending criminal charges may carry adverse immigration consequences.” *Id.* However, “when the deportation consequence is truly clear . . . the duty to give correct advice is equally clear.” *Id.* An applicant can establish prejudice if he shows that, if he knew about the deportation risk, he would not have accepted a plea bargain, but would have gone to trial. *Lee v. U.S.*, 137 S.Ct. at 1966-67.

Regarding guilty pleas, specifically, the applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for ineffective assistance of counsel, he or she would not have pled guilty but, instead, would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985); see *Kovacs v. U.S.*, 744 F.3d 44, 52 (2d Cir. 2014) (The court held that a defendant was prejudiced if, “but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, there was a reasonable probability that the petitioner could have negotiated a plea that did not impact immigration status”). The applicant’s right to contest the validity of a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed because of the solemnity and truthfulness inherent in the plea proceeding. See *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977) (“Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity. The subsequent presentation of conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to summary dismissal, as are contentions that in the face of the record are wholly incredible.”). Absent valid reasons why the applicant is entitled to depart from admissions made at the plea hearing, sworn statements made during the original proceeding remain conclusive. *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Crawford v. United States*, 519 F.2d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1975)).

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